

Chapter 6

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS*

* **Cross References:** Harbor management commission, § 24-5; Warwick Station Redevelopment Agency (WSRA), § 51-22 et. seq.

Article I. In General

Sec. 6-1. False testimony before city council or city board or commission.
Secs. 6-2--6-30. Reserved.

Article II. Diversity Commission

Sec. 6-31. Established; membership; duties; organization.
Secs. 6-32--6-50. Reserved.

Article III. Board of Assessment Review

Sec. 6-51. Rules of procedure for appeals from assessments.
Secs. 6-52--6-70. Reserved.

Article IV. Board of Public Safety

Division 1. Generally

Sec. 6-71. Establishment of regulations pertaining to removal of illegally parked vehicles.
Secs. 6-72--6-90. Reserved.

Division 2. Fire Duties

Sec. 6-91. Miscellaneous ordinances not affected by Code.
Sec. 6-92. General powers and duties of board of public safety in lieu of board of fire.
Sec. 6-93. Responsibility for administration of fire department.
Sec. 6-94. Authority over fire department.
Sec. 6-95. Temporary appointments to fill vacancies in fire department.
Sec. 6-96. Estimate of annual expenses for fire protection.
Sec. 6-97. Control of fire apparatus.
Secs. 6-98--6-120. Reserved.

Article V. Commission on Historical Cemeteries

Sec. 6-121. Established.
Sec. 6-122. Membership.
Sec. 6-123. Term of office.
Sec. 6-124. Replacement of members for failure to attend meetings.
Sec. 6-125. Purpose.
Sec. 6-126. Acceptance of support and money.
Sec. 6-127. Appropriations by city council.
Secs. 6-128--6-150. Reserved.

Article VI. Housing Board of Review

Sec. 6-151. Established; powers.
Sec. 6-152. Conditions for appeal.
Sec. 6-153. Application for appeal.
Sec. 6-154. Appeal fee.
Sec. 6-155. Effect of appeal.
Sec. 6-156. Membership; appointment of members.
Sec. 6-157. Term of office.
Sec. 6-158. Qualifications of members.

Sec. 6-159. Officers.
Sec. 6-160. Exemption of members from voting.
Sec. 6-161. Notice of meeting.
Sec. 6-162. Quorum for hearing appeal.
Sec. 6-163. Proceedings.
Sec. 6-164. Majority vote required.
Sec. 6-165. Records; notice of decisions.
Sec. 6-166. Court review of decisions.
Secs. 6-167--6-190. Reserved.

Article VII. Juvenile Hearing Board

Sec. 6-191. Established.
Sec. 6-192. Referral of offenders to board.
Sec. 6-193. Refusal of referral.
Sec. 6-194. Legal representation of offenders.
Sec. 6-195. Powers and duties; imposition of sanctions.
Sec. 6-196. Meetings and rules of procedure.
Sec. 6-197. Membership; term of office.
Sec. 6-198. Effective date.
Secs. 6-199--6-220. Reserved.

Article VIII. Personnel Hearing Board

Sec. 6-221. Established; membership; term of office.
Sec. 6-222. Organization; meetings; quorum; compensation of members.
Sec. 6-223. Removal of members.
Sec. 6-224. Appeals to board.
Sec. 6-225. Members not to run for or hold elective office.
Secs. 6-226--6-240. Reserved.

Article IX. Retirement Board (For System Effective Prior to July 1, 1992)

Division 1. Generally

Sec. 6-241. Administration and general responsibility for retirement system.
Sec. 6-242. Membership.
Sec. 6-243. Filling of vacancies.
Sec. 6-244. Voting.
Sec. 6-245. Jurisdiction.
Sec. 6-246. Establishment of regulations for administration of retirement system; other functions of board.
Sec. 6-247. Officers.
Sec. 6-248. Payment of expenses.
Sec. 6-249. Employees of retirement system.
Sec. 6-250. Authority to engage actuarial, investment and other services.
Sec. 6-251. Collection of data for evaluation.
Sec. 6-252. Records; annual report.
Sec. 6-253. Duties of city solicitor.
Sec. 6-254. Medical board.
Sec. 6-255. Recommendation of changes in retirement system due to changes in Social Security Act.
Sec. 6-256. Limitation on administrative powers and duties.
Secs. 6-257--6-270. Reserved.

Division 2. Actuarial Services

Sec. 6-271. Actuary to be technical adviser; qualifications.
Sec. 6-272. Actuarial investigation to be performed every three years.
Sec. 6-273. Annual evaluation of assets and liabilities.
Sec. 6-274. Certification of rates of contribution payable by employer.
Sec. 6-275. Determination of asset value before adjustment and market value of assets; establishment of adjustment ratio.
Secs. 6-276--6-290. Reserved.

Division 3. Investment of Trust Funds

Sec. 6-291. Board designated trustee of funds; powers and duties.

Sec. 6-292. Fiduciary role of members and employees of retirement system with regard to funds.
Sec. 6-293. Group annuity contract purchase authorized.
Secs. 6-294--6-310. Reserved.

Article X. Retirement Board (For System Effective July 1, 1992)

Sec. 6-311. Established; responsibility for administration of plan; membership; voting; officers.
Sec. 6-312. Powers and duties.
Sec. 6-313. Records; annual report.
Sec. 6-314. Duties of city solicitor.
Sec. 6-315. Amendment of plan.
Sec. 6-316. Designation of beneficiary by members of plan.
Sec. 6-317. Group annuity contract purchase authorized.
Secs. 6-318--6-340. Reserved.

Article XI. Sewer Board of Review

Sec. 6-341. Powers and duties.
Sec. 6-342. Officers.
Sec. 6-343. Clerk.
Sec. 6-344. Meetings.
Sec. 6-345. Quorum.
Sec. 6-346. Hearings to be public; notice of hearings.
Sec. 6-347. Minutes and other records.
Sec. 6-348. Time limit for filing appeals.
Sec. 6-349. Appeals to be in writing; timely filing.
Sec. 6-350. Docketing of appeals; order of hearing; hearing continued matters.
Sec. 6-351. Determination of number of appeals to be heard at each meeting.
Sec. 6-352. Powers regarding appeals.
Sec. 6-353. Executive session; deferment of decision; majority vote required.
Sec. 6-354. Notice of decision.
Sec. 6-355. Filing new petition for same premises or subject matter.
Secs. 6-356--6-380. Reserved.

Article XII. Tree Commission

Sec. 6-381. Jurisdiction; duties.
Sec. 6-382. Appointment and qualifications of tree warden.
Secs. 6-383--6-400. Reserved.

Article XIII. Growth Management Coordinating Council

Sec. 6-401. Statement of purpose.
Sec. 6-402. Creation of growth management coordinating council.
Sec. 6-403. Appointment of members; term of office; by-laws and conditions for function.
Sec. 6-404. Funding.
Sec. 6-405. Meetings and rules of procedure.
Secs. 6-406--6-419. Reserved.

Article XIV. Reserved

Secs. 6-420--6-439. Reserved.

Article XV. Airport Land Use Commissions

Sec. 6-440. Statement of purpose.
Sec. 6-441. Creation of airport land use commission.
Sec. 6-442. Members.
Sec. 6-443. Funding.
Sec. 6-444. Meetings and rules of procedure.

ARTICLE I.

IN GENERAL

Sec. 6-1. False testimony before city council or city board or commission.

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to give false testimony under oath or affirmation during any hearing before the city council or any boards or commissions of the city.

(b) Any person convicted of a violation of the provisions of this section shall be subject to the penalties as provided in section 1-4.
(Code 1971, § 13-28)

Secs. 6-2--6-30. Reserved.

ARTICLE II.

DIVERSITY COMMISSION*

* **Editors Note:** Ord. No. O-07-16, § I, adopted July 10, 2007, repealed § 6-31, which pertained to established affirmative action commission; membership; duties; organization and derived from Ord. No. O-94-20, § I, 9-12-94; Ord. No. O-96-22, § I, 6-10-96. Subsequently, Ord. No. O-07-15, § I, adopted July 10, 2007, added § 6-31 to read as herein set out.

Sec. 6-31. Established; membership; duties; organization.

Under the authority granted to the city council under section 8-20, entitled "additional boards," of the City Charter, a diversity commission shall be established. The commission shall consist of seven members; four of which shall be appointed by the mayor and three of which shall be appointed by the city council president, upon recommendation of council members. The members shall be appointed for a term of four years and shall serve without compensation. The commission at its first meeting shall select a chairperson and such other officers as it deems necessary from among its members and adopt rules of procedure for the conduct of its business not inconsistent with the provisions of the City Charter and the personnel merit system. It shall be the duty of the commission, in cooperation with the director of personnel and appointing officers, to assist all municipal departments and divisions to ensure that they are fully integrating all residents into the work they do for the community and that they are accessible to all residents.
(Ord. No. O-07-15, § I, 7-10-07)

Secs. 6-32--6-50. Reserved.

ARTICLE III.

BOARD OF ASSESSMENT REVIEW*

* **Cross References:** Taxation, ch. 74.

Sec. 6-51. Rules of procedure for appeals from assessments.

The procedure to be followed in the filing of appeals by property owners from assessments as

determined by the tax assessor is as follows:

- (1) All appeals to the board of assessment review shall be on petitions provided by such board and must be filed with such board no later than December 15, 1977, and October 15 of each year thereafter.
- (2) All questions on such petition shall be answered completely.
- (3) A separate petition shall be filed for each review requested.
- (4) The owner of record must file all petitions or, if this is not possible, his/her mark or the signature of his/her legal representative must appear, and his/her title must be affixed thereto.
- (5) Petitioners will be notified of the time and place of the hearing.
- (6) The owner of record, or his/her representative, must appear at such hearing. If persons other than the owner of record are to testify, then a written authorization filed by the landowner of record must be presented and recorded.
- (7) Failure on the part of any petitioner or his/her legal representative to appear at the time and place designated by such board for his/her petition to be heard, without prior notification, will be recorded as a default by nonappearance.
 - a. Any petition so recorded will not be reheard for a period of one fiscal year. No petition may be resubmitted for any year for which a prior petition was recorded as a default due to the nonappearance of the petitioner or his/her legal representative.
 - b. There shall be no rehearing of any petition for the period of one fiscal year, unless the petitioner can present new or different evidence, which evidence could not have been presented to such board at the time of the original hearing, or unless in the opinion of such board unusual circumstances warrant a rehearing.
- (8) The procedure for rehearing shall be as follows:
 - a. A new petition must be filed with an accompanying list or brief explanation.
 - b. The board of assessment review, at its regular meeting after the filing of the petition for rehearing, will decide on the merits for a rehearing, and the petitioner will be notified in writing of the findings and recommendations of such board.
- (9) Attorneys, expert witnesses, and any other persons may be presented by the petitioners to such board in the hearing of any petitions.
- (10) All testimony given before such board shall be under oath and shall be recorded.
- (11) The proceedings of the board of assessment review shall be recorded and kept in a minutes book

provided by such board. This minutes book shall never leave the office of the board of assessment review.

- (12) All decisions of the board of assessment review shall be by resolution.
- (13) The public hearing of the board of assessment review shall be open to the public and to the press.
- (14) All petitioners will be notified in writing of the finding, recommendations, and decision of such board.
- (15) All petitions shall be numbered and heard with reference to the tax assessor's plat and lot numbers.
- (16) All petitions will be acknowledged by the board of assessment review by a postcard.
- (17) All proceedings of the board of assessment review shall be by an agenda.

(Code 1971, § 21-1)

Secs. 6-52--6-70. Reserved.

ARTICLE IV.

BOARD OF PUBLIC SAFETY*

* **Cross References:** Civil preparedness, ch. 14; fire prevention and protection, ch. 20.

DIVISION 1.

GENERALLY

Sec. 6-71. Establishment of regulations pertaining to removal of illegally parked vehicles.

The board of public safety may make further rules and regulations not inconsistent with chapter 76 to implement the provisions of section 76-7 et seq.
(Code 1971, § 22-12)

Secs. 6-72--6-90. Reserved.

DIVISION 2.

FIRE DUTIES*

* **Cross References:** Buildings and building regulations, ch. 8.
State Law References: Establishment of bureau of fire, P.L. 1953, ch. 3136; P.L. 1955, ch. 3554.

Sec. 6-91. Miscellaneous ordinances not affected by Code.

Nothing in this Code or the ordinance adopting this Code shall affect any section of article II of chapter 5 of the 1959 compiled ordinances, relative to the bureau of fire, and all such sections are hereby recognized as continuing in full force and effect to the same extent as if set out at length in this Code.
(Code 1971, § 7-19)

Sec. 6-92. General powers and duties of board of public safety in lieu of board of fire.

The board of public safety shall fulfill all the duties and responsibilities of, and have all the rights and powers of, the bureau of fire, under the ordinances of the city and Public Law No. 3136, passed by the general assembly at its January 1953 session, pursuant to section 8-6 of the city Charter.
(Code 1971, § 7-20)

Sec. 6-93. Responsibility for administration of fire department.

All matters relating to the administration of the fire department shall be considered by the board of public safety as a whole, which bureau shall be responsible to the mayor and council for the administration and management of the fire department.
(Code 1971, § 7-21)

Sec. 6-94. Authority over fire department.

The board of public safety shall have the authority to appoint, remove, organize, and control the chief of the fire department, the officers and men/women of the fire department and all other attaches of the fire department of the city as such is now or hereafter may be constituted, and shall also have authority to make all needful rules, regulations, etc., for the efficiency, management and direction thereof not inconsistent with the laws of the state.
(Code 1971, § 7-22)

Sec. 6-95. Temporary appointments to fill vacancies in fire department.

In case of a vacancy in any office of the fire department, the board of public safety shall designate an officer of the permanent department to act in such office until a permanent replacement has been appointed. Such acting officer shall not be permanent.
(Code 1971, § 7-23)

Sec. 6-96. Estimate of annual expenses for fire protection.

The board of public safety shall be responsible for the preparation of the estimate of the annual expenses of the fire department for fire protection. Such estimate shall be submitted to the mayor for his/her annual budget, and to the council.
(Code 1971, § 7-24)

Sec. 6-97. Control of fire apparatus.

All fire apparatus now owned by the city shall be under the control and direction of the board of public safety.
(Code 1971, § 7-25)

Secs. 6-98--6-120. Reserved.

ARTICLE V.

COMMISSION ON HISTORICAL CEMETERIES*

* **Cross References:** Cemeteries, ch. 12.

Sec. 6-121. Established.

A commission on historical cemeteries is hereby created. The name of such commission shall be "Warwick Commission on Historical Cemeteries." Such commission shall be nonpolitical.
(Code 1971, § 5-40)

Sec. 6-122. Membership.

The membership of the historical cemetery commission shall be composed as follows:

- (1) Membership is restricted to bona fide residents of the city.
- (2) Membership is restricted to a maximum of seven members. The commission shall also include two alternates, to be designated as the first and second alternate members. These alternate members shall sit and may actively participate in hearings. The first alternate shall vote if a member of the board is unable to serve at a hearing. In the absence of the first alternate member, the second alternate member shall serve in the position of the first alternate. No member or alternate may vote on any matter before the board unless they have attended all hearings concerning such matter.
- (3) The members shall be appointed by the mayor from a group of prominent and actively interested citizens.

(Code 1971, § 5-41; Ord. No. O-96-15, § I, 4-8-96; Ord. No. O-03-13, § I, 7-21-03)

Sec. 6-123. Term of office.

(a) Upon passage of this article, the mayor shall appoint, with the approval of the city council, seven members.

(b) The mayor shall annually, in the month of January, appoint, subject to the approval of the city council, a number of members equal to the number of members whose terms expire to hold office for three years from the first Monday of January in the year of his or her appointment, and until his or her successor is chosen.

(Code 1971, § 5-42; Ord. No. O-96-15, § I, 4-8-96)

Sec. 6-124. Replacement of members for failure to attend meetings.

In the event that any member of the historical cemetery commission shall be absent from three consecutive meetings, he/she may be replaced as a member of the commission. Such replacement shall be made by the mayor and confirmed by the city council and such membership shall terminate upon the appointment and confirmation of the member chosen as a replacement.

(Code 1971, § 5-43)

Sec. 6-125. Purpose.

The purpose of the historical cemetery commission shall be as follows: The commission shall cause to be created an inventory of historical cemeteries within the city; formulate and develop plans and programs to restore, rehabilitate and maintain historical cemeteries; recommend to the mayor and city council such action as may be necessary to implement such plans and programs; and investigate sources of funds, including fundraising, grants and development of both corporate and individual sponsors, and all other legitimate and related activities.

(Code 1971, § 5-44)

Sec. 6-126. Acceptance of support and money.

The historical cemetery commission shall have the authority to accept public support and funds from individuals or others for the purpose of carrying out the purposes of this article, and shall make reports of accounting quarterly to the director of finance of the city.

(Code 1971, § 5-45)

Sec. 6-127. Appropriations by city council.

The city council has the authority, in its discretion, to appropriate funds necessary to carry out the purpose of this article, and to transfer such funds to the historical cemetery commission for expenditures.

(Code 1971, § 5-46)

Secs. 6-128--6-150. Reserved.

ARTICLE VI.

HOUSING BOARD OF REVIEW*

* **Cross References:** Buildings and building regulations, ch. 8; fee for appeals before housing board of review, § 18-9.

Sec. 6-151. Established; powers.

There shall be a housing board of review, which is authorized to hear and decide appeals from compliance orders. The board shall have the power to reverse or affirm wholly or partly or to modify any order

of the director; and in specific cases to authorize a variance in the application of the terms of chapter 26, where, owing to unusual conditions, a literal enforcement of the provisions of chapter 26 will result in unnecessary hardship, and so that the spirit of chapter 26 shall be observed and substantial justice done.

(Code 1971, § 10-84)

Sec. 6-152. Conditions for appeal.

Any person upon whom a compliance order has been served may appeal from the compliance order to the board.

(Code 1971, § 10-85)

Sec. 6-153. Application for appeal.

Application for such an appeal may be made whenever it is alleged that the compliance order does not conform with the true intent of chapter 26 or of the rules and regulations adopted pursuant thereto, that the compliance order is contrary to law, that the provisions of chapter 26 do not fully apply, or that in unusual conditions unnecessary hardship will result from the literal enforcement of the provisions of chapter 26. Any eligible person desiring to take an appeal shall file in the office of the board, within ten days after service of the compliance order, a written appeal including a brief statement of the reasons therefor, and a detailed statement of the facts supporting the appeal. A notice of the appeal shall be forwarded immediately to the director by the secretary of the board.

(Code 1971, § 10-86)

Sec. 6-154. Appeal fee.

An appeal fee, in accordance with chapter 18, shall be paid upon filing of any application for appeal before the board. Upon receipt of the appeal fee by the board, said fee shall be paid into the city treasury.

(Code 1971, § 10-87)

Sec. 6-155. Effect of appeal.

An appeal to the board shall stay all proceedings under the compliance order from which such appeal has been taken, except that the director may certify to the board, after receipt of the notice of the appeal, as provided in section 6-153, that, by reason of the facts stated in the certificate, any stay of proceedings would in his/her opinion cause a direct hazard or immediate peril to the health or safety of the occupants of a dwelling or of the public, and in such event proceedings shall not be stayed except by a restraining order granted by the chairperson or the acting chairperson of the board on application therefor by the appellant upon notice to the director, and on due cause shown, or by a court of competent jurisdiction. Whenever a restraining order has been issued, the appeal shall be given priority over all other matters before the board, and shall be promptly heard and decided.

(Code 1971, § 10-88)

Sec. 6-156. Membership; appointment of members.

The housing board of review shall consist of five members appointed by the mayor subject to the approval of the city council. One member shall be of the minority party.

(Code 1971, § 10-89)

Sec. 6-157. Term of office.

One member of the board shall be appointed for five years, one for four years, one for three years, one for two years, and one to serve for one year, and each new member to serve for five years and until his/her successor has been appointed and qualified. The mayor, with the approval of the council, shall appoint a member of the board to fill any unexpired term if a vacancy occurs.

(Code 1971, § 10-90)

Sec. 6-158. Qualifications of members.

Each member of the board shall be a resident and qualified elector of the city, and one member shall be a qualified builder, or a licensed architect, or a licensed professional engineer. No member of the board shall serve on any other appointive board of the city.

(Code 1971, § 10-91)

Sec. 6-159. Officers.

The board shall select one of its members to serve as chairperson, and the board shall select one of its members to serve as vice-chairperson.

(Code 1971, § 10-92)

Sec. 6-160. Exemption of members from voting.

No member of the board shall pass on any matter in which he/she has a business or personal interest.

(Code 1971, § 10-93)

Sec. 6-161. Notice of meeting.

The board shall meet at least once a month and at other times upon the call of the chairperson. Notice of the meeting to hear an appeal shall be given the appellant, the director, and the members of the board, at least ten days before the holding of the meeting, except for a hearing on an appeal involving a restraining order, at which time notice need not exceed 48 hours. Upon receipt of notice of an appeal the director shall forward immediately to the chairperson of the board all pertinent records.

(Code 1971, § 10-95)

Sec. 6-162. Quorum for hearing appeal.

In order for the board to hear an appeal, a quorum of three members of the board must be present. When a quorum is not present, the hearing of the appeal shall be postponed until such time as a quorum is present. The board shall provide for a new date for the hearing of the appeal in accordance with the provisions of section 6-161.

(Code 1971, § 10-96)

Sec. 6-163. Proceedings.

All hearings of the housing board of review shall be de novo. All hearings shall be public, and the appellant, his/her representative, the director and any other person whose interest may be affected by the matter on appeal, and who files a written entry of appearance, shall be given an opportunity to be heard. Written entry of appearance at such hearing shall fulfill the requirements for service of any notice or order by the director. The chairperson, or, in his/her absence, the acting chairperson, may administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses. Proceedings of the board shall be conclusive with respect to questions of fact and may be reviewed only on questions of law by courts of competent jurisdiction as provided in section 6-166. (Code 1971, § 10-97)

Sec. 6-164. Majority vote required.

A concurring vote of a majority of the members of the board present at the hearing shall be necessary to reverse or modify any order or decision of the director, and to authorize a variance in the application of any of the provisions of chapter 26 as provided in section 6-151. In the event of a tie vote of the members of the board present at the hearing, the order or decision of the director shall be deemed to have been sustained. (Code 1971, § 10-98)

Sec. 6-165. Records; notice of decisions.

All decisions of the board shall be in writing. The board shall keep clear and detailed minutes of all its proceedings, including its decisions and the reasons therefor and the vote of each member participating therein and the absence of a member or his/her failure to vote. Such record, immediately following the board's decision, shall be filed in the office of the board and shall be a public record. Notice of the board's decision shall be promptly furnished to the appellant, to his/her representative, to any person who has filed a written entry of appearance, and to the director, and the director shall take immediate action in accordance with the decision of the board. (Code 1971, § 10-99)

Sec. 6-166. Court review of decisions.

Any person, including the director, aggrieved by a decision of the housing board of review may present to the supreme court a petition duly verified setting forth that such decision is illegal in whole or in part and specifying the grounds of the illegality. Such petition shall be presented to the court within 30 days after the filing of the decision in the office of the board. Upon the presentation of such petition, the court may allow a writ of certiorari directed to the housing board of review to review such decision of the board and shall prescribe therein the time within which a return thereto must be made, which shall be not less than ten days and may be extended by the court. The allowance of the writ shall not stay proceedings upon the decision appealed from, but the court may on application, upon notice to the board and on due cause shown, grant a restraining order. The board shall not be required to return the original papers acted upon by it, but it shall be sufficient to return certified or sworn copies thereof or of such portions thereof as may be called for by such writ. The return shall concisely set forth such other facts as may be pertinent and material to show grounds of the decision appealed from and shall be verified. If upon the hearing it shall appear to the court that testimony is necessary for the proper disposition of the matter, it may take evidence or appoint a master to take such evidence as it may direct and report the same to the court with his/her findings of fact and conclusions of law, which shall constitute a part of the proceedings upon which the determination of the court shall be made. The court may

reverse or affirm wholly or partly or may modify the decision brought up for review.
(Code 1971, § 10-100)

Secs. 6-167--6-190. Reserved.

ARTICLE VII.

JUVENILE HEARING BOARD

Sec. 6-191. Established.

There is hereby established within the city a juvenile hearing board with the powers set forth in this article for the purpose of hearing all cases referred to such board by the chief of the police department, with respect to persons resident in the city, under the age of 18 years, who are charged with violating the criminal laws of the state or the city.

(Code 1971, § 2-121)

Sec. 6-192. Referral of offenders to board.

(a) Any person who is a resident of the city and under the age of 18 years who allegedly shall have committed a juvenile offense which if committed by an adult would be a misdemeanor may request a hearing before the juvenile hearing board rather than being referred to the family court; provided, however, that said referral to the juvenile hearing board is made with the approval of the chief of police of the city; and further provided that referral to said juvenile hearing board shall not be offered to any juvenile:

- (1) Who has been charged with the crime of assault or battery, unless specifically approved by the chief of police of the city;
- (2) Who shall have been twice previously referred to said board or who shall have been once previously referred to said board and refused or failed to abide by the sanctions imposed or to make the restitution recommended by said board; or
- (3) Who at the time of commission of such juvenile offense was within the custody and control of family court, not to include guardianship matters.

(b) The chief of police may offer referral to the juvenile hearing board to any other juvenile offender where, in the opinion of the chief of police, such referral would be beneficial to the juvenile concerned and the community at large. No referral to said board shall be made by the chief of police until such person, together with his/her legal guardians, shall have, in writing, waived such person's right to a hearing in the family court with respect to the offense charged, shall have admitted guilt to the offense charged, and shall have agreed to abide by the decision of said board; provided, however, that failure to comply with the decision of said board may result in the referral of said juvenile to the family court by the chief of police.

(Code 1971, § 2-122)

Sec. 6-193. Refusal of referral.

The board, after investigation, may refuse to hear any case in which it appears that a juvenile was wrongfully referred in violation of section 6-192. In addition, the board may refuse to hear any case in which the juvenile refuses to supply the board with requested information, fails to appear when requested or refuses to cooperate with the proceedings of the board. The board shall immediately notify the chief of police, in writing, of any case which it refuses to hear, and the chief of police shall take whatever further action that is deemed necessary, including referral to the family court.
(Code 1971, § 2-123)

Sec. 6-194. Legal representation of offenders.

Any juvenile offender shall be entitled to be represented by counsel and present evidence at said hearing. Said legal representation shall be at the offender's own expense.
(Code 1971, § 2-124)

Sec. 6-195. Powers and duties; imposition of sanctions.

(a) The board shall hear all cases referred to it by the chief of police and shall recommend sanctions (other than incarceration) and shall direct restitution for any injuries resulting from the commission of such offense.

(b) Sanctions imposed by the board shall be for a period of time not to exceed six months and may consist of, but shall not be limited to, public service, referral to counseling, curfews, restrictions on association with other offenders, restrictions on employment, and fines not to exceed \$100.00, or any combination of the above.

(c) In those cases in which the board shall order restitution, it shall attempt to assist the offender and his/her parents in providing a means whereby the offender may make such restitution. In ordering restitution, the board shall take into account the offender's ability to pay and the amount of actual damages caused as a result of the commission of such offense.

(d) In any proceeding, the board, prior to imposing sanctions, shall request the juvenile offender and his/her parents to agree to the sanctions imposed and to agree to the amount of restitution and manner of making the same. In imposing sanctions or ordering restitution, the board shall consider the nature of the offense, the prior record of the offender, and any mitigating circumstances involved.

(e) The board shall have the right to levy hearing costs.
(Code 1971, § 2-125)

Sec. 6-196. Meetings and rules of procedure.

(a) The board shall meet not less than once each month. It shall give written notice of the matters to be heard before it to the chief of police, the juvenile officer, and the juvenile offender and his/her parents, not less than ten days prior to the date of the hearing. Said notice shall set forth the nature of the offense, the time and place of the hearing, and the offender's right to be represented by counsel at the offender's expense.

(b) A majority of the members of the board shall constitute a quorum, and its proceedings shall be

closed to the public. The board shall elect one of its members as its chairperson and one as its vice-chairperson. In the absence of the chairperson, the vice-chairperson shall be the presiding officer. A majority of the members present shall be required to take any action. The board shall have the power from time to time to draft rules governing its proceedings or to amend or repeal any rules theretofore adopted, with the approval of the chief of police, and not inconsistent with this article.
(Code 1971, § 2-126)

Sec. 6-197. Membership; term of office.

(a) The membership of the board shall consist of seven persons over the age of 18 years, to be appointed by the city council, all of whom shall have been residents for at least three years within the city, and none of whom shall be attorneys admitted to practice before the supreme court of the state, and none shall be an elected official in any capacity in any city or town. The city council shall appoint one member whose term shall expire on December 1, 1992, and thereafter until his/her successor is appointed and qualified, three members whose term shall expire on December 1, 1993, and thereafter until their successors are appointed and qualified, and three members whose term shall expire on December 1, 1994, and thereafter until their successors are appointed and qualified. During the month of November and annually thereafter, the city council shall appoint a member or members to succeed the member or members whose terms will then next expire, to serve for a term of three years, commencing on December 1, and thereafter until their successors are appointed and qualified. In the event of a vacancy occurring in the office of a member by death, resignation or otherwise, such vacancy shall be filled in like manner as the original appointment, but only for the remainder of the term of the former member. No member of the board shall be entitled to receive any compensation by reason of his or her service on the board. An attorney may be appointed to the board as an ex officio member by the chief judge of the family court.

(b) The composition of the board shall consist of citizens of the city who have a background in and of the related fields of education, probation and parole, human services, or community youth programs, members of the clergy, former law enforcement or judicial officials or any citizens whom the council deems have the credentials that would be an asset to the board.
(Code 1971, § 2-127)

Sec. 6-198. Effective date.

This article shall apply to all juveniles alleged to have committed an offense after July 12, 1992.
(Code 1971, § 2-128)

Secs. 6-199--6-220. Reserved.

ARTICLE VIII.

PERSONNEL HEARING BOARD*

* **Cross References:** Personnel merit system, ch. 48.

Sec. 6-221. Established; membership; term of office.

There is hereby established a personnel hearing board to consist of three qualified electors of the city who shall be known to be in sympathy with the application of modern personnel practices, under a merit system of personnel administration in the public service, and not more than two of whom shall be members of the same political party. The members of the board shall be appointed by the mayor. Each member shall be appointed for a term of six years commencing on the expiration of the terms of the present members as follows: one in December 1994, one in December 1996, and one in January 1998. A vacancy, whatever the circumstances of its creation, shall be filled by appointment of the mayor, within 60 days and only for the unexpired portion of the term.

(Code 1971, § 14-22)

Sec. 6-222. Organization; meetings; quorum; compensation of members.

The personnel hearing board shall elect one of its members chairperson. Each member shall take the oath of office before entering upon the duties of office. Members of the board shall be reimbursed for necessary travel and other expenses and each member of the board shall be paid a sum to be determined by the council. The board shall meet at such times and places as shall be specified by call of the chairperson or the mayor. Notice of each meeting shall be given in writing to each member. Two members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

(Code 1971, § 14-23)

Sec. 6-223. Removal of members.

A member of the personnel hearing board shall be subject to removal by the mayor as provided in section 3-3 of the Charter.

(Code 1971, § 14-24)

Sec. 6-224. Appeals to board.

The personnel hearing board shall hear appeals:

- (1) By any person holding full status in the classified service aggrieved by action of the chief of the division of personnel on matters of personnel administration.
- (2) By any person holding full status in the classified service who has been discharged, demoted, suspended or laid off by any appointing authority.
- (3) By any person who holds the belief that he/she has been discriminated against because of his/her race, color, creed, national origin, religious or political opinions, handicap, sex, or affiliations in any personnel action. Such appeals shall be taken in accordance with the provisions of chapter 48 or the personnel rules.

(Code 1971, § 14-25)

Sec. 6-225. Members not to run for or hold elective office.

No member of the personnel hearing board shall seek the nomination of or be a candidate for any

elective office; neither shall any elective officer be appointed a member of the personnel hearing board unless he/she resigns his/her elective office.
(Code 1971, § 14-82)

Secs. 6-226--6-240. Reserved.

ARTICLE IX.

RETIREMENT BOARD (FOR SYSTEM EFFECTIVE PRIOR TO JULY 1, 1992)*

* **Cross References:** Retirement system, ch. 60.

DIVISION 1.

GENERALLY

Sec. 6-241. Administration and general responsibility for retirement system.

The general administration and the responsibility for the proper operation of the retirement system and for making effective the provisions of article II of chapter 60 are hereby vested in a retirement board.
(Code 1971, § 16-114)

Sec. 6-242. Membership.

The membership of the retirement board shall consist of:

- (1) The director of finance, ex officio.
- (2) The chief of personnel, ex officio.
- (3) The chairperson of the city council finance committee, ex officio.
- (4) The president of the municipal employees bargaining unit, ex officio.
- (5) Three members to be elected within 60 days following the effective date of Ordinance No. O-70-9 for a term expiring June 30, 1973, providing:
 - a. One of the three members shall be elected from and by the membership of the retirement system who also hold membership within an appropriate bargaining unit as designated by the state labor relations board for collective bargaining purposes with a participating employer. Such member shall hold office only while a member of both the retirement system and appropriate bargaining unit.
 - b. One of the three members shall be elected from and by the membership of the retirement

system who are also retirants of the system. Such member shall hold office only while a member of the retirement system as a retirement.

- c. One of the three members shall be elected from and by the membership of the retirement system who does not hold membership within an appropriate bargaining unit as described above and who is not a retirant. Such member shall hold office only while a member of the retirement system.

Subsequent elections shall be for terms of three years beginning July 1, 1970, and each three years thereafter.

- (6) Four members who shall not be officers or employees of the city. When this article becomes effective, the mayor shall appoint two members for a term of one year, one for a term of two years and one for a term of three years. Thereafter, each member shall be appointed for a term of three years from the date of expiration of the term for which his/her predecessor was appointed.

(Code 1971, § 16-115)

Sec. 6-243. Filling of vacancies.

If a vacancy occurs in the office of a retirement board member, the vacancy shall be filled for the unexpired term in the same manner as the office was previously filled.

(Code 1971, § 16-116)

Sec. 6-244. Voting.

Each board member shall be entitled to one vote on the board. A majority of six votes shall be necessary for a decision by the members at any meeting of the board.

(Code 1971, § 16-118)

Sec. 6-245. Jurisdiction.

The retirement board shall have exclusive original jurisdiction in all matters relating to or affecting the funds provided for in this article and article II of chapter 60, including, in addition to all other matters, all claims for benefits and refunds under article II of chapter 60, and its action, decisions or determinations in any matter shall be reviewable according to law.

(Code 1971, § 16-119)

Sec. 6-246. Establishment of regulations for administration of retirement system; other functions of board.

Subject to the limitations of this article and article II of chapter 60, the retirement board shall, from time to time, establish rules and regulations for the administration of funds created by this law, for the transaction of its business and for the limitation of the time within which claims may be filed and for the administration and transaction of the business of the retirement system, and shall perform such other functions as are required for the execution of this article and article II of chapter 60.

(Code 1971, § 16-120)

Sec. 6-247. Officers.

The retirement board shall elect a chairperson from its membership by majority vote. The chief of personnel shall be the secretary of the retirement board, but he/she may appoint an employee of the retirement system to perform necessary duties of the position.

(Code 1971, § 16-121)

Sec. 6-248. Payment of expenses.

All necessary expenses of the retirement board and the staff of the retirement system shall be paid at such rates and in such amounts as the retirement board shall approve.

(Code 1971, § 16-122)

Sec. 6-249. Employees of retirement system.

The mayor shall appoint all employees of the retirement system of the city and direct their work in accordance with the policy and rules established by the retirement board. The compensation of all persons so appointed shall be paid in accordance with the comprehensive compensation plan of the city. Appointment to positions created as a result of this article shall be made in accordance with the merit system ordinance.

(Code 1971, § 16-123)

Sec. 6-250. Authority to engage actuarial, investment and other services.

The retirement board may engage such actuarial, investment, administrative and other services as may be required or deemed advisable to transact the business of the retirement system.

(Code 1971, § 16-124)

Sec. 6-251. Collection of data for evaluation.

The staff of the employee retirement system under the direction of the chief of personnel shall keep in convenient form such data as shall be necessary for actuarial evaluation of the liabilities of the retirement system and for checking the experience of the system.

(Code 1971, § 16-125)

Sec. 6-252. Records; annual report.

The secretary of the retirement board shall be responsible for keeping a record of all its proceedings, which shall be open to public inspection. He/she shall publish annually a report approved by the retirement board showing, for the fiscal year, the amount of the accumulated cash financial conditions of the system by means of an actuarial evaluation of the assets and liabilities of the retirement system.

(Code 1971, § 16-126)

Sec. 6-253. Duties of city solicitor.

The city solicitor shall be the legal adviser and counsel of the retirement board.

(Code 1971, § 16-127)

Sec. 6-254. Medical board.

The retirement board shall designate a medical board to be composed of three physicians who shall arrange for and pass upon all medical examinations required under the provisions of article II of chapter 60, shall investigate all essential statements and certificates made by or on behalf of a member in connection with an application for disability retirement and shall report in writing to the retirement board its conclusions and recommendations upon all the matters referred to it.

(Code 1971, § 16-128)

Sec. 6-255. Recommendation of changes in retirement system due to changes in Social Security Act.

Whenever the maximum earnings base for taxes and benefits under the federal Social Security Act is changed in the future, the retirement board shall study the effect on total contributions and total benefits provided by the federal Social Security Act and by this retirement system and shall make recommendations as to the desirability of changes in the retirement system to the city council.

(Code 1971, § 16-129)

Sec. 6-256. Limitation on administrative powers and duties.

Except as provided in this article and article II of chapter 60, the retirement board shall have no administrative powers or duties.

(Code 1971, § 16-130)

Secs. 6-257--6-270. Reserved.

DIVISION 2.

ACTUARIAL SERVICES

Sec. 6-271. Actuary to be technical adviser; qualifications.

The actuary shall be the technical adviser of the retirement board on matters regarding the operation of the funds created by this article and article II of chapter 60, and shall perform such other duties as are required in connection therewith. He/she shall be a qualified member as a Fellow of the Society of Actuaries.

(Code 1971, § 16-141)

Sec. 6-272. Actuarial investigation to be performed every three years.

The retirement board shall have made at least every three years an actuarial investigation into the mortality, service and compensation experiences of the members, retirants, and beneficiaries of the retirement system and, taking into account the results of such investigation and valuation, the retirement board shall establish for the retirement system such mortality, service and other tables as shall be deemed necessary.

(Code 1971, § 16-142)

Sec. 6-273. Annual evaluation of assets and liabilities.

On the basis of tables arrived at pursuant to the actuarial investigation as the retirement board shall adopt, it shall make an annual evaluation of the assets and liabilities of the fund of the retirement system. The assets used for such evaluation shall equal the lesser of the asset value before adjustment and the market value of assets, including any accrued contributions.

(Code 1971, § 16-143)

Sec. 6-274. Certification of rates of contribution payable by employer.

On the basis of the annual evaluation performed pursuant to this division, the retirement board shall certify the rates of contribution payable by the employers.

(Code 1971, § 16-144)

Sec. 6-275. Determination of asset value before adjustment and market value of assets; establishment of adjustment ratio.

On each January 31 from 1985 through 1988, on June 30, 1988, and on each subsequent June 30, the asset value before adjustment and the market value of assets shall be determined. If the market value of assets exceeds the asset value before adjustment by an amount equal to six percent or more of the actuarial accrued liability of the benefits of all retired employees and beneficiaries, then an adjustment to the monthly benefit is warranted. An increase in monthly benefits may be granted, such that the increase in actuarial accrued liability does not exceed one-third of the amount by which the market value of assets exceeded the asset value before adjustment and such that the average increase in monthly benefits does not exceed the sum of the negotiated increases in base wages covered under the collective bargaining agreement effective during the 12-month period beginning on the July 1 immediately prior to the effective date of increase in monthly benefits. If an increase in the monthly benefits is granted, then the adjustment referred to in "asset value after adjustment" shall equal two times the actuarial accrued liability of the increase in monthly benefits.

(Code 1971, § 16-145)

Secs. 6-276--6-290. Reserved.

DIVISION 3.

INVESTMENT OF TRUST FUNDS

Sec. 6-291. Board designated trustee of funds; powers and duties.

The retirement board shall be the trustees of the funds created by this article and article II of chapter 60 and shall have full power to invest and reinvest such funds, subject to all the terms, conditions, limitations and restrictions imposed by law upon a corporate trustee in the state in making and disposing of its investments, and subject to like terms, conditions, limitations and restrictions said retirement board shall have full power to hold, purchase, sell, assign, transfer or dispose of any of the securities and investments in which any of the funds created in this article and article II of chapter 60 shall have been invested, as well as of the proceeds of said investments and any moneys belonging to said funds.

(Code 1971, § 16-156)

Sec. 6-292. Fiduciary role of members and employees of retirement system with regard to funds.

Except as provided in this article and article II of chapter 60, no member of and no employee of the retirement system shall have any direct interest in the gains or profits of any investment made by the retirement board, nor as such receive any pay or emolument for his/her services. No member of the board or employee of the retirement system shall directly or indirectly for himself/herself or as an agent in any manner use the assets of the retirement system except to make such current and necessary payments as are authorized by the retirement board, nor shall any member or employee of the retirement system become an endorser or surety or become in any manner an obligor for moneys loaned by or borrowed from the retirement board.
(Code 1971, § 16-157)

Sec. 6-293. Group annuity contract purchase authorized.

The retirement board is hereby authorized and empowered to apply for and purchase from an insurance company, authorized to transact business in the state, a group annuity contract, in form approved by said retirement board, for the purpose of providing benefits to members of the retirement system, as defined by article II of chapter 60. Such group annuity contract may contain a provision for establishing separate accounts funding for the purpose of allocating thereto amounts paid to the insurer by the retirement board in connection with the retirement system for the future payment of retirement benefits in guaranteed fixed amounts.
(Code 1971, § 16-158)

Secs. 6-294--6-310. Reserved.

ARTICLE X.

RETIREMENT BOARD (FOR SYSTEM EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 1992)

Sec. 6-311. Established; responsibility for administration of plan; membership; voting; officers.

(a) *Board established; general duties.* The general administration and the responsibility for the proper operation of the plan and for making effective the provisions of article III of chapter 60 are hereby vested in a retirement board.

- (b) *Membership.* The membership of the retirement board shall consist of:
- (1) The city's finance director ex officio;
 - (2) The city's personnel chief ex officio;
 - (3) The chairperson of the city council finance committee ex officio;
 - (4) The president of the union ex officio;
 - (5) Three members to be elected for a term expiring June 30, 1994, providing:

- a. One of the three members shall be elected from and by the membership of the plan who also hold membership within an appropriate bargaining unit as designated by the state labor relations board for collective bargaining purposes with the city. Such member shall hold office only while a member of both the plan and the appropriate bargaining unit.
- b. One of the three members shall be elected from and by the membership of the plan who are retirees. Such member shall hold office only while a retiree.
- c. One of the three members shall be elected from and by the membership of the plan who does not hold membership in the union as described above and who is not a retiree. Such member shall hold office only while a member of the plan.

Subsequent elections shall be for terms of three years beginning July 1, 1994, and each three years thereafter.

- (6) Four members who shall not be employees of the city shall be appointed for terms of three years from the date of expiration of the term for which the predecessor of each member was appointed.

(c) *Filling of vacancies.* If a vacancy occurs in the office of a retirement board member, the vacancy shall be filled for the unexpired term in the same manner as the office was previously filled.

(d) *Voting.* Each retirement board member shall be entitled to one vote on the board. A majority of six votes shall be necessary for a decision by the members at any meeting of the board.

(e) *Officers.* The retirement board shall elect a chairperson from its membership by majority vote. The chief of personnel shall be the secretary of the retirement board, but he or she may appoint an employee of the plan to perform necessary duties of the position.

(Ord. No. O-93-31, § I(7.1), 12-13-93)

Sec. 6-312. Powers and duties.

(a) *Jurisdiction.* The retirement board shall have exclusive original jurisdiction in all matters relating to or affecting the funds provided for in this article and article III of chapter 60, including, in addition to all other matters, all claims for benefits and refunds under this article and article III of chapter 60, and its action, decisions or determinations in any matter shall be reviewable according to law.

(b) *Authority to establish regulations for administration of plan.* Subject to the limitations of this article and article III of chapter 60, the retirement board shall, from time to time, establish rules and regulations for the administration of funds created by this law, for the transaction of its business and for the limitation of the time within which claims may be filed and for the administration and transaction of the business of the plan, and shall perform such other functions as are required for the execution of this article and article III of chapter 60.

(c) *Payment of expenses.* All necessary expenses of the retirement board and the staff of the plan shall be paid at such rates and in such amounts as the retirement board shall approve.

(d) *Limitation on administrative powers and duties.* Except as provided in this article and article III

of chapter 60, the retirement board shall have no administrative powers or duties.
(Ord. No. O-93-31, § I(7.2), 12-13-93)

Sec. 6-313. Records; annual report.

The secretary of the retirement board shall be responsible for keeping a record of all its proceedings, which shall be open to public inspection. He or she shall publish annually a report approved by the retirement board showing the financial condition of the fund.
(Ord. No. O-93-31, § I(7.3), 12-13-93)

Sec. 6-314. Duties of city solicitor.

The city solicitor shall be the legal adviser and counsel of the retirement board.
(Ord. No. O-93-31, § I(7.4), 12-13-93)

Sec. 6-315. Amendment of plan.

The city council shall have the right to amend the plan. The plan may not be altered or amended without consultation between the city council and the retirement board.
(Ord. No. O-93-31, § I(7.5), 12-13-93)

Sec. 6-316. Designation of beneficiary by members of plan.

After joining the plan in accordance with section 60-341, each member shall designate, on such forms as are acceptable to the retirement board, one or more individuals, estates or trusts as his or her beneficiary under the plan, including contingent beneficiaries. The member may change his or her designated beneficiary at any time prior to retirement.
(Ord. No. O-93-31, § I(7.6), 12-13-93; Ord. No. O-98-43, § I, 12-14-98)

Sec. 6-317. Group annuity contract purchase authorized.

The retirement board is hereby authorized and empowered to apply for and purchase from an insurance company, authorized to transact business in the state, a group annuity contract, in form approved by said retirement board, for the purpose of providing benefits to members of the plan. Such group annuity contract may contain a provision for establishing separate accounts funding for the purpose of allocating thereto amounts paid to the insurer by the retirement board in connection with the plan for the future payment of retirement benefits in guaranteed fixed amounts.
(Ord. No. O-93-31, § I(7.7), 12-13-93)

Secs. 6-318--6-340. Reserved.

ARTICLE XI.

SEWER BOARD OF REVIEW*

* **Cross References:** Sewers and sewage disposal, ch. 66.
State Law References: Creation of sewer board of review for city, and authority thereunder, P.L. 1962, ch. 254, § 19.

Sec. 6-341. Powers and duties.

The city sewer board of review shall have all the powers and duties hereinafter set out and as prescribed in P.L. 1962, ch. 254, as amended.
(Code 1971, § 18-16)

Sec. 6-342. Officers.

The sewer board of review shall elect from among its members a chairperson and a secretary at the first meeting after the organization and upon the appointment of any new member for a full term, and shall fill any vacancy that may occur in either office from any cause.
(Code 1971, § 18-17)

Sec. 6-343. Clerk.

The sewer board of review may appoint a clerk, who shall perform such administrative duties as may be prescribed by the board as well as all other duties prescribed by law.
(Code 1971, § 18-18)

Sec. 6-344. Meetings.

Meetings of the sewer board of review shall be held at the call of the chairperson and at such other times as the board may determine. The chairperson may administer oaths.
(Code 1971, § 18-19)

Sec. 6-345. Quorum.

The presence of all three members shall be required to constitute a quorum for conducting the business of the sewer board of review.
(Code 1971, § 18-20)

Sec. 6-346. Hearings to be public; notice of hearings.

All hearings of the sewer board of review shall be open to the public. At least five days prior to the date scheduled for a hearing, notice shall be mailed to the petitioner, and a copy of same shall be forwarded to the city sewer authority. In case of continuances of public hearings, notice of this fact must be sent to the petitioner and the city sewer authority.
(Code 1971, § 18-21)

Sec. 6-347. Minutes and other records.

The sewer board of review shall keep minutes of its proceedings showing the vote of each member upon each question or, if such member is absent or fails to vote, indicating such fact, and shall keep records of its examinations and other official actions, all of which shall be filed immediately in the office of the board and

shall be a public record.
(Code 1971, § 18-22)

Sec. 6-348. Time limit for filing appeals.

Within 60 days after mailing of notice of an assessment or charge under section 9 of 1962 Public Laws, chapter 254, or within 30 days after giving or mailing of notice of an order under section 17 of 1962 Public Laws, chapter 254, any person aggrieved by such assessment, charge or order may appeal to the sewer board of review.
(Code 1971, § 18-23)

Sec. 6-349. Appeals to be in writing; timely filing.

Appeals must be in writing on forms provided by the sewer board of review and shall be filed in the office of the board within the times specified above.
(Code 1971, § 18-24)

Sec. 6-350. Docketing of appeals; order of hearing; hearing continued matters.

All appeals filed with the sewer board of review shall be numbered, docketed and assigned by the clerk for hearing in the order in which received. All continued matters shall be heard prior to the matters docketed at any meeting.
(Code 1971, § 18-25)

Sec. 6-351. Determination of number of appeals to be heard at each meeting.

The sewer board of review shall determine the number of appeals that may be assigned for hearing to any particular meeting.
(Code 1971, § 18-26)

Sec. 6-352. Powers regarding appeals.

The sewer board of review shall have power to hear and decide appeals where it is alleged that an assessment, charge or order of the city sewer authority is unwarranted in whole or in part, and shall annul or modify the same and make such order as justice may require. Otherwise it shall affirm the same.
(Code 1971, § 18-27)

Sec. 6-353. Executive session; deferment of decision; majority vote required.

The merits of any petition may be discussed by the sewer board of review in executive session; provided, however, that all decisions of the board shall be made in open session. The board in its discretion may reserve consideration and decision to a later date. All decisions shall be made by majority vote.
(Code 1971, § 18-28)

Sec. 6-354. Notice of decision.

Notice of the sewer board's decision shall be sent to the petitioner and a copy of same forwarded to the city sewer authority.
(Code 1971, § 18-29)

Sec. 6-355. Filing new petition for same premises or subject matter.

No new petition pertaining to the same premises or subject matter involved in a decision of the sewer board of review may be heard until the expiration of two years from the date of such decision.
(Code 1971, § 18-30)

Secs. 6-356--6-380. Reserved.

ARTICLE XII.

TREE COMMISSION*

* **Cross References:** Trees, ch. 78.

Sec. 6-381. Jurisdiction; duties.

(a) The city tree commission, hereinafter referenced as the "commission," shall have jurisdiction over all forestry functions, including the planting, care and removal of trees, shrubs and other plants, on the properties for which it is responsible. The commission shall do all acts necessary and proper for the care, management, improvement, maintenance and protection of the public park and street trees under its jurisdiction.

(b) The duties of the commission shall be interpreted to include, but not be limited to, the protection, maintenance, removal and planting of trees on public property, and making such recommendations from time to time to the city council as to desirable legislation concerning the tree program and activities for the city.
(Code 1971, § 25-3)

Sec. 6-382. Appointment and qualifications of tree warden.

The tree warden shall be appointed by the city tree commission. This person shall have training and experience in arboriculture and shall have passed the state arborist exam.
(Code 1971, § 25-4(a))

Secs. 6-383--6-400. Reserved.

ARTICLE XIII.

GROWTH MANAGEMENT COORDINATING COUNCIL*

* **Editors Note:** Section I of Ord. No. O-97-6, adopted March 18, 1996, repealed §§ 6-401--6-411 in their entirety. Prior to the re-enactment of §§ 6-401--6-405, such sections pertained to the Warwick Development Commission and derived from §§ 2-62--2-64, 2-66--2-73 of the 1971 Code.

Sec. 6-401. Statement of purpose.

The city council recognizes the adverse impact of uncontrolled and unplanned commercial, industrial and residential growth in the city. The city council further recognizes that this problem has significant and far reaching implications, including but not limited to the following:

- (1) It needlessly destroys the economic value of our land;
- (2) It creates inefficient land-use patterns;
- (3) It threatens our economic vitality by requiring increased public infrastructure investments;
- (4) It destroys the intrinsic visual beauty of the landscape;
- (5) It increases traffic, creates safety concerns, and leads to deteriorating roadways; and
- (6) Unchecked residential growth inevitably leads to school overcrowding and threatens the quality of education in our community.

Therefore, it is clear that in order to protect the quality of life in our community, city officials must work together to develop effective mechanisms for controlling growth.

(Ord. No. O-00-11, § I, 4-11-00)

Sec. 6-402. Creation of growth management coordinating council.

There is hereby established an independent growth management coordinating council, which will be a public/private partnership among the federal government, the state, the city and its citizens, with the powers and responsibilities set forth in this article for the purpose of coordinating and advising on consistent planning for the reasonable control and development of land for the benefit of residents of the city.

The council will act as a liaison between federal, state and city agencies, and departments, and the citizens of the city to accomplish its objectives. The primary purpose of the council is to evaluate proposed developments, to produce independent studies and recommendations and to provide city officials with reliable information regarding the impact of proposed new developments within the city.

The council will also develop initiatives that will enable the city to lay a realistic foundation for sustainable growth. These initiatives should include, but are not limited to:

- (1) Promoting greater citizen involvement in the planning process;
- (2) Recommending impact fees to ensure that growth pays for growth;
- (3) Ensuring cooperation between municipal agencies; and
- (4) Examining the city's infrastructure capacity and setting guidelines for future development to

minimize the burdens on the community; and

(5) Promoting an active approach to the acquisition of land for open space.

(Ord. No. O-00-11, § I, 4-11-00)

Sec. 6-403. Appointment of members; term of office; by-laws and conditions for function.

The membership of the council shall be appointed as follows:

- (1) Each member of the city council will submit the names of two residents from his or her ward for nomination by the city council; and
- (2) The mayor shall appoint one nominee from each of the nine wards.

In order to cure the procedure utilized in the initial appointments to the growth management coordination council, the initial appointments are hereby revoked. By December 31, 2001, each member of the city council shall submit the names of two people from his or her ward for nomination to the growth management coordinating council by resolution of the city council.

The following persons are requested to attend the meetings of said council as advisors:

- (1) One city council person who is a member of the majority party on the city council and one city council person who is a member of the minority party on the city council, and in the event there is no minority member of the city council, the chairperson or their designee of the party which has no member on the city council;
- (2) One member of the planning board of the city to be designated by the members of the planning board;
- (3) One member of the zoning board of the city to be designated by the members of the zoning board;
- (4) The superintendent of the school department of the city or a designee;
- (5) The chief of the police department of the city or a designee;
- (6) The chief of the fire department of the city or a designee;
- (7) The director of the parks and recreation department of the city or a designee;
- (8) The executive director of the sewer authority of the city or a designee;
- (9) The director of the department of public works of the city or a designee;
- (10) The director of the economic development department of the city or a designee;

- (11) The finance director of the city or a designee;
- (12) The chair of the permanent implementation committee which is being established in accordance with the T.F. Green Airport FAR Part 150 Noise Compatibility Study.

Each citizen representative shall have the responsibility to act as a liaison between said council and one of the following:

- (1) The governor and general assembly of the state;
- (2) A person from the state department of transportation designated by the director of the state department of transportation;
- (3) The executive director of the county water authority or a designee;
- (4) A person from Narragansett Electric Company designated by the chief executive officer of Narragansett Electric Company;
- (5) A person from the state historic preservation society designated by the director of the state historic preservation society;
- (6) A person from the Providence Gas Company designated by the chief executive officer of the Providence Gas Company;
- (7) A person from state economic development corporation designated by the executive director of state economic development corporation;
- (8) A person from the central state chamber of commerce;
- (9) A person from the state association of realtors and a person from the state builders association.

The membership of said council shall consist of persons over the age of 18 years. The growth council shall consist of three citizen members from Wards 1, 2 and 3, whose term shall expire on March 1, 2003, and shall serve thereafter until their successors are appointed and qualified, three citizen members from Wards 4, 5 and 6, whose term shall expire on March 1, 2004, and shall serve thereafter until their successors are appointed and qualified, and three citizen members from Wards 7, 8 and 9, whose term shall expire on March 1, 2005, and shall serve thereafter until their successors are appointed and qualified. During the month of January, the city council shall nominate and the mayor shall appoint members to succeed the members whose terms will then next expire, to serve for a term of four years, commencing on March 1, and thereafter until their successors are appointed and qualified. In the event of a vacancy occurring in the office of a member by death, resignation or otherwise, such vacancy shall be filled in like manner as the original appointment, but only for the remainder of the term of the former member. No member of the board shall be entitled to receive any compensation by reason of his or her service on the board.

(Ord. No. O-00-11, § I, 4-11-00; Ord. No. O-01-23, § I, 12-26-01)

Sec. 6-404. Funding.

Funding for the growth management coordinating council shall be in such amounts as may be determined by the city council in accordance with budget provisions of the city Charter.
(Ord. No. O-00-11, § I, 4-11-00)

Sec. 6-405. Meetings and rules of procedure.

(1) The council shall meet at least once each month and no less than fourteen days prior to the regularly scheduled city planning board meeting. A staff member of the planning department shall review with the members of the council all items of which are scheduled to be heard by the planning board at its next meeting. The council shall prepare and send to the planning board a report on possible detrimental impacts to citizens of the city or to the existing institutions and municipal infrastructure from the proposed development, as well as recommendations for action to alleviate the impact. The council may also initiate, consider and make general recommendations consistent with its statement of purpose on issues of land development. The council shall give written notice of the matters to be heard before it, not less than forty-eight hours prior to the date of said meeting in a manner consistent with the state open meetings law. Said notice shall set forth the matters to be heard, and the time and place of the meeting.

(2) Six of the members of said council shall constitute a quorum, and its proceedings shall be open to the public. The council shall elect one of its members as its chairperson and one as its vice-chairperson. In the absence of the chairperson, the vice-chairperson shall be the presiding officer. A majority of the members present shall be required to take any action. The council shall have the power from time to time to draft rules governing its proceedings or to amend or repeal any rules thereafter adopted which are not inconsistent with this section.

(3) No matter scheduled to be heard by the city planning board may be delayed or held by the board because the council fails to transmit a report and recommendation.
(Ord. No. O-00-11, § I, 4-11-00)

Secs. 6-406--6-419. Reserved.

ARTICLE XIV.

RESERVED*

* **Editors Note:** Ordinance No. O-02-18, § I, adopted August 13, 2002, repealed §§ 6-420--6-427 in their entirety. Formerly, such sections pertained to juvenile hearing board for truancy and derived from Ord. No. O-97-25, § I, 11-10-97.

Secs. 6-420--6-439. Reserved.

ARTICLE XV.

AIRPORT LAND USE COMMISSIONS

Sec. 6-440. Statement of purpose.

The city desires to be a good neighbor with the T.F. Green State Airport in promoting its economic vitality, and in promoting the use and enjoyment of said airport for our citizens.

At the same time, the city recognizes the adverse impact that the expansion of T.F. Green Airport has had to our surrounding neighborhoods. The city further recognizes that this problem is significant and has far reaching implications including, but not limited to, the following:

- (1) It adversely impacts the health, safety and welfare of the residents surrounding the airport;
- (2) It reduces the fair market value of homes in the city;
- (3) Vital tax dollars are lost in perpetuity to the city when homes and land are purchased by the state airport corporation, which is a tax exempt entity;
- (4) The haphazard purchase of property around T.F. Green based on noise contour lines creates an inefficient land-use pattern in and around the airport;
- (5) It threatens our economic vitality by placing an increased tax burden on the remaining commercial and residential property owners;
- (6) It destroys the intrinsic visual beauty of the landscape; and
- (7) It increases traffic, increases noise and air pollution, creates safety concerns, and leads to deteriorating roadways.

Therefore, it is clear that in order to protect the quality of life around T.F. Green Airport, city officials must work to develop effective mechanisms to control airport expansion in and around T.F. Green Airport. (Ord. No. O-00-19, § I, 5-16-00)

Sec. 6-441. Creation of airport land use commission.

There is hereby established a neighborhood buyout commission, which shall act as an advisory commission to city officials and as a liaison between and among the state airport corporation, the community noise advisory committee, and the citizens of the city in order to develop a framework for coordinated and consistent planning for the control and development of land use patterns in and around the airport.

The commission will also consider initiatives that will enable the city to lay a realistic foundation for sustainable growth of T.F. Green Airport while protecting the quality of life for residents of the city. These initiatives should include, but are not limited to:

- (1) Promoting greater citizen involvement in the planning process around the airport;
- (2) Examining initiatives for alleviating noise and air pollution for neighborhoods surrounding the airport;
- (3) If neighborhoods so desire, assisting them in marketing their land as a whole in order to increase

the fair market value of their individual properties which may include assistance with comprehensive plan amendments and/or zone changes;

- (4) Examining the city's infrastructure capacity and setting guidelines for future expansion of T.F. Green Airport, including the development of noise compatibility overlay zones;
- (5) Promoting an active approach to the acquisition of land for open space and recreation to act as buffer zones between the airport and residential neighborhoods, and
- (6) To work with neighborhood residents, whose properties are being bought out and RIAC to address the following concerns:
 - a. Establishing a written time table which residents can rely upon to determine when individual homes will be purchased;
 - b. Providing the residents with information as to how the fair market value of their homes and property will be determined; and
 - c. Providing residents with an informational booklet as to their rights and responsibilities pursuant to the buyout program.

(Ord. No. O-00-19, § I, 5-16-00)

Sec. 6-442. Members.

The membership of the commission shall be the following:

- (1) Each member of the city council;
- (2) The director of the planning department of the city or his or her designee who shall attend each meeting of the commission;
- (3) The city council constituent liaison who shall attend each meeting of the commission and be a non-voting member of the commission;
- (4) The executive director of the Rhode Island Airport Corporation, or his or her designee, who shall be a non-voting member of the commission; and
- (5) Two citizens of the City of Warwick who shall be appointed by the president of the city council.

No member of the commission shall receive any compensation by reason of his or her service on the commission.

(Ord. No. O-00-19, § I, 5-16-00; Ord. No. O-04-1, § I, 2-10-04; Ord. No. O-05-17, § I, 6-22-05; Ord. No. O-08-9, § I, 3-11-08)

Sec. 6-443. Funding.

Funding for the commission shall be in such amounts as may be determined by the city council and the mayor for the purposes set forth herein from year to year.
(Ord. No. O-00-19, § I, 5-16-00)

Sec. 6-444. Meetings and rules of procedure.

(a) The commission shall meet once each quarter, and shall comply with the provisions of the open meetings law. A meeting may also be called by the chairperson of the commission.

(b) Four of the members of said commission shall constitute a quorum, and its proceedings shall be open to the public. At the first meeting of each calendar year, the commission shall elect one of its members as its chairperson and one of its members as its vice-chairperson, who shall serve for a term of one year each. In the absence of the chairperson, the vice-chairperson shall be the presiding officer. A majority of the voting members present shall be required to take any action. Any member wishing to place a matter on the agenda for consideration and/or discussion by the commission at a future meeting, shall submit a brief description of the matter in writing to the chairperson or vice-chairperson no less than 48 hours prior to said meeting. The commission shall have the power from time to time to draft rules governing its proceedings or to amend or repeal any rules thereafter adopted which are not inconsistent with this section.
(Ord. No. O-00-19, § I, 5-16-00; Ord. No. O-05-17, § II, 6-22-05)